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SUMMARY

The Greater Manchester Archaeological Unit (GMAUWY dhe Wigan Conservation
Officer recommended a programme of archaeologioaéstigation following the
proposal to redevelop 120-130 Standishgate Wigis Was to comprise a desk-
based assessment of the entire development areaa dnelel-1ll type building
investigation of the standing buildings making (3®1130a.

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) undertook thenk in June 2004. 120-130
Standishgate is situated at the north end of ortleeoiain medieval streets of Wigan,
and it is likely that the site was original part afgroup of burgage plots. It is
positioned close to the site of Mab’s Cross, whgklosely connected to the legend
of Sir William and Mabel de Bradshaigh.

It was not until the seventeenth century during &ig early industrial prosperity that

the first records relating to the site become awdd. These show that the plots were
constantly redeveloped during the eighteenth améteenth century and included

farm buildings including a barn and shippon, aslwsla malt kin, brew house and
smithy. The general area saw a great deal of amigin and expansion during the

late nineteenth century and early nineteenth cgnamd the development area was
clearly no exception.

130-130a was an inn from at least the eighteenthucg and it was not until the
beginning of the twentieth century that it ceasetd so. During the twentieth century
many of the earlier buildings were destroyed, egfigowithin the southern part of
the development area, as a result the construafiargarage in 1950.

The building investigation identified a complex iesrof alterations that had been
made to the standing remains of 130-130a. Theesarbuilding on the site was
probably a seventeenth century cottage, which w#nded to the rear, and further
altered in the eighteenth and nineteenth century.

As a result of the desk-based assessment andriguiltvestigation recommendations
were made for a watching brief to be carried ouirduthe demolition of 130-130a,
particularly so that the roof can be examined inrandetail, and that evaluation
trenches should be excavated across the whole ajgmeht area prior to the
commencement of ground works.

A watching brief, carried out during demoliton aetbuilding in July 2004, revealed
that the roof structure was original, and thatdbeth wing contemporary with it. The
roof appears to have been open to the rafters aihdile date. A central partition wall
within the original frontage had wattle and daulbeglbng within the roof space, and
further investigation revealed that this continuedhe first floor below, where the
cross wall was constructed of timber-framing, Iefil with wattle and daub panels.

The structure appears to have originated as a peshalan house, based on an
extended earlier cross-passage plan, and probafipally built as a public house in
the late seventeenth century.

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004
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1. INTRODUCTION

11 CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

1.1.1 Following the granting of planning permission to & D Croft Ltd to

redevelop the site of 120-130 Standishgate Wigahdaosing (SD 5848 0623;
Figs 1 and 2), which would include the demolitidnl80-130a, a brief for a
programme of archaeological recording was issueGlhAU, in conjunction
with the Wigan Conservation OfficeAfpendix L This was to include a rapid
desk-based assessment of the know historical arteological resource for
the whole development area, and a RCHME levelyplet survey (RCHME
1996) of the surviving building remains.

1.1.2 A project design was produced by OA North in regeoto this Appendix 2
Following the acceptance of the project design MA® and the Wigan
Conservation Officer OA North was commissionedndertake the work.

1.1.3 The desk-based assessment and building investigagoe undertaken in May
and June 2004 and the watching brief in July 2@@¥hwing the acceptance
by GMAU of the recommendations of the initial intigation.

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004



130-130a Standishgate, Wigan: Archaeological Bagdinvestigation 6

2. METHODOLOGY

21

211

2.1.2

2.2
221

2.2.2

2.2.3

2.3

23.1

2.3.2

INTRODUCTION

The development area was originally covered by 120- Standishgate,
including the plots to the rear of the street fag® 130-130a is all that
remains of a row of buildings situated between 448 the Mab’s Cross Hotel
(Fig 2). Standishgate is part of the medieval tafriWigan and may have
originally been a Roman road. The two plots mosemndly formed a single
large building but there is considerable evidermerépeated alteration and
change of use. Most recently it was used as ahlop,Jut it is known to have
been an inn from as early as the late eighteemtuge

The front of the property faces south-east ontm@shgate, although for the
purposes of simplifying the survey results it viedl described as facing east.

DEsSK-BASED ASSESSMENT

Introduction: the desk-based assessment examined the whole peerio
area as well as an area of approximately 150m drolis (Fig 3). This is
intended to supply not only background informatiabout the standing
buildings on the site (130-130a), but also prowededence for the potential
archaeological resource of the site as a wholederato inform the need for
any below ground archaeological work.

A number of locations were visited and both primatgcuments and
secondary sources were consulted, as outlineceiprbject designAppendix
2). The most useful sources consulted were map$efatea, although the
site’s close proximity to Mab’s Cross meant thdérge number of secondary
sources were also available.

These sources were used to outline the historlgeobtiilding through time, as
well as provide some background information for th@re general area. This
allowed the building to be placed in its local @it as well as provide useful
comparisons and assess the site’s significance.

BUILDING INVESTIGATION

Site Survey: the survey consisted of several parts. A comprebhensritten
description of the entire structure was undertakeith specific features of
note being recorded in more detail. Plans of theuigd and first floor were
produced showing the main structural elements, el as any features of
specific interest and the relationships between \thdous parts of the
building.

Photographic Record: photographs were taken showing both the general

layout and arrangement of the building as well aserspecific features of
interest and individual rooms.

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004
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24 WATCHING BRIEF

2.4.1 The watching brief comprised a site visitrtspect roof space areas not visible
at the time of the original survey. Further demafitwas also undertaken by
the archaeologist during the watching brief in orte maximise potential
information concerning the development of the dtmee The recording
methodology was the same as the building investigatinvolving the
enhancement of existing plans and the maintenaheepbotographic record
of those features revealed.

25 ARCHIVE

2.5.1 A full archive has been produced to a professistaidard in accordance with
current United Kingdom Institute for Conservationidglines (UKIC 1990)
and English Heritage guidelines (English Heritag@91). The archive
represents the collation and indexing of all théadand material gathered
during the course of the project. The depositioragbroperly ordered and
indexed project archive in an appropriate repogiterconsidered an essential
and integral element of all archaeological projéstshe IFA code of conduct.

2.5.2 The paper and digital archive will be depositedhwihe Wigan Heritage
Service Archives in Leigh Town Hall on completioh thhe project. Two
copies of the report will be deposited with the &ee Manchester SMR in
Manchester.

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004
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3. BACKGROUND

31

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

3.3
3.3.1

3.3.2

INTRODUCTION

The historical and archaeological background isgapally compiled from
secondary sources and is intended to put the sestilthe assessment into a
wider context. Where possible they relate spedifida the development area
and reference is made to sites close to it whergetlexist.

The development area covers all of the plots fr&@ b 130 Standishgate,
and so where possible historical details are sjpadif related to these plots.

GEOLOGY AND TOPOGRAPHY

The site is positioned on the north side of Wiggrproximately 1km from the
town centre (Fig 1). Standishgate is a long stnemting from Market Place at
the south, and becoming Wigan Lane at the nortb. site is situated at its far
north end, immediately before it becomes Wigan L@fg 2). Standishgate
rises as it heads north from Wigan reaching a hexflapproximately 50m

above sea level at the position of 120-130.

The geology of the area forms part of the LancasBioal Measures, which
extend from the Mersey Valley to the south to threodinderness Plain to the
northwest (Countryside Commission 1998, 172). Tdiel geology comprises
productive coal measures, with sandstone and narke south (Ordnance
Survey 1951). The drift geology is glacial and pgisicially derived tills
(Countryside Commission 1998, 128). Borehole daigpked by the client
indicates the presence of between 2.5m and 4muéléoclay across the site
(below the overburden) over levels of mudstonegstme and bands of clay.

HISTORY AND ARCHAEOL OGY

Prehistory: there is little evidence for prehistoric activilyound Wigan, and
none in the vicinity of the proposed developmemtaarTwo stray finds are
recorded: a Neolithic polished stone axe was faarttle town (Jackson 1936,
74), and a Bronze Age axe hammer, now lost, wasodesed near Bottling
Wood to the north-east of the study area (Nevedll2@).

Roman: a number of artefacts of Roman date were discovaceoss Wigan
during the nineteenth century as a result of canstmn work in the Wallgate,
King Street and Darlington Street area (Hannavy019®). A particular

concentration of finds has been identified on tiglhér ground around Library
Street and Millgate Street (Tindall 1983, 25). Tieenains of a probable
Roman cemetery were also discovered during thetmai®n of the gas
works on the southern edge of the city between 1&2@ 1830 ibid). A

defensive ditch andggerwas visible along the north side of the town aantr
to the south of the study area, into the early teeth century (SMR

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004
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4057.1.0), although there is some debate over theaple date of this (see
Section 3.3.6

3.3.3 The site of Wigan had long been associated withs#tdement ofCoccium
which is recorded as lying 17 miles from Manchesieid). The line of the
Roman road through the town to Preston is thoughietto the west of the
study area (Margary 1973, 368), although it is aered likely that
Standishgate was part of a network of roads linkiiggan to Warrington,
Manchester and Prestabi¢l). A milestone, thought to be Roman in date, was
discovered off Wigan Lane (to the north of the gtadea) in 1930 (SMR No.
4943.1.0), which adds weight to the suggesteddinat least one road to the
north.

3.3.4 It was not until excavations were carried out i@ 1980s that actual settlement
remains were identified in Wigan. These were &t fanly slight and lacking
in structural remains (Holdsworth and Reynolds 1291A hearth, discovered
in the Weind in 1982-3, was the first Roman featar&Vigan to have been
subject to detailed archaeological investigationndall 1983, 2). These
excavations eventually revealed the remains of whatbeen interpreted as a
Roman military industrial site, comprising a seriek timber buildings,
furnaces and hearths and a metalled roaccit, 29-30). It is considered likely
that Roman remains existed near the summit of thenhAigan town centre
before being largely destroyed by Georgian andoviah cellars, whilen situ
Roman deposits have been revealed under more tivan ntetres of
overburden further down the slopbid). These deposits added weight to the
suggestion that Wigan is the site@bccium although further work is needed
to confirm this. Indeed, whilst the main phase afvaty appears to have come
to an end by the early years of the third centlngsic questions remain
regarding the chronology and nature of the Romasumation in the area
(Buxton and Shotter 1996, 77).

3.3.5 Early Medieval: little is known about Wigan following the collapsé the
Roman Empire. Place-name evidence points to somedb native settlement
(Tindall 1985, 20), and the name Wigan is thoughtdme either from a Old
English personal nameéb{d), or from the Saxon wortlVaegmeaning way,
which is often associated with the existence obenBn road (Nevell 2001, 9).
There is no direct evidence for activity in thedst@rea during this period, but
the name Standishgate includes the Viking wordsfoeet, gata (Hannavy
2003, 15), which suggests it was a road of som@fgignce.

3.3.6 Medieval: Wigan is not mentioned in Domesday (Nevell 20Q1argd much of
the surrounding area was probably of little valtdal( et al, 1995, 122).
However, Wigan soon became established as an iengatea for agriculture,
and in 1245 the town was effectively granted bolostatus by a charter of
Henry Il (Hannavy 1990, 33). By the mid-thirteergéntury Wigan was one
of the larger chartered towns of Lancashire, alaiily Lancaster, Preston,
Liverpool, Manchester and Warrington (White 199@9)1 There were still
earthworks visible in the early part of the ninaetbecentury marking what
was probably an outer defence of the medieval taithough the northern
end of Standishgate was outside of this (PowelB18%.

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004
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3.3.7

3.3.8

3.3.9

The physical remains of medieval Wigan have beetowered in several
excavations within the town centre; cultivationls@nd a timber-lined well or
cistern were excavated at the Weind (Jones and RO85, 29), post-holes
and pottery dating to the fourteenth or fifteentmtary were uncovered at
Chapel Street (GMAU 1987, 2). The remains of meali®urgage plot with a
substantial town house constructed of timber wise discovered on Hallgate
(GMAU 2001).

The form of the plots shown on early maps of Wigsunggests that
Standishgate formed part of the medieval town (Md®83, 35), although the
northern end was apparently outside of the towert=ds (se&ection 3.1\
The study area is fortunate because it is closeitere Mab’s Cross was
formerly positioned (Sité6). Mab’s Cross is medieval in date, and thought to
predate the thirteenth century (Hawkes 1935, 133.donnected to the legend
of Sir William de Bradshaigh who, according to tegend, went to fight in
the Crusades and never returned (Holcroft 19923ctoal fact the events took
place several decades after the Crusades andlity reahad been exiled after
his part in a rebellion. After several years hisewMabel, assuming he was
dead, was remarried to a Welsh knight. Sir Willieeturned, however, and
killed his rival after chasing him to Newton-le-\éivs. Mabel then did
penance for her ‘indiscretion’ by walking the twadles from their home at
Haigh Hall to the cross bare foot and bare legpedce the cross came to be
known as Mab’s Crossbid). Sir Walter Scott, who used the tale as the basis
for his own story, The Betrothed mentions an old ruinous building
positioned near the cross in which Mabel did peeaatthough it is not clear
what this might refer to (Porteus 1940, 31).

As a result of this local landmark being positiorsedclose to the study area
there are a number of additional records thatedtathis part of Standishgate.
The Le Crosse or Le Cruce family (who were probatdyned after the cross
(Taylor 1902, 234)) are known to have owned lane fiewmc1280, described
as between the land of the Parson of Wygan and... oottier side between
the land of...[Adam] and the water of the Duglesse without condition
(Hawkes 1934, 1), and there are similar referertoetand elsewhere on
Standishgateilgid).

3.3.10 The first direct reference to Mab’s Cross dated403, again as part of a

description of land in the areawo acres of land next Mabcrosse in the tenure
of William de Parbold worth 4/{Hawkes 1934, 31). Both of these references
demonstrate that there was settlement of some forthe area during the
medieval period, although exact details are nadrcénd it is not known who
owned the site covering the development area ort,whaany, type of
buildings were present there. A depiction of MatbelBradshaigh (who died
c1350) at prayer before Mab’s Cross forming partatlief on the tomb of
her and her husband shows buildings in the backgreuith gabled dormers
above the eaves (Plate 3). It is not clear, howdwaw accurate a depiction
this is or whether such buildings were present3@130a, especially as those
depicted have a more sixteenth to seventeenthryemppearance.

3.3.11 Post-medieval: during the early part of the post-medieval periodgai

became an important centre for pewter manufactandetextiles, particularly

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004
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woollen cloths, linen, calicos and checks, as wadl other small-scale
industries (Tindall 1985, 23). A number of peopleaged in such processes
are listed as living on Standishgate from at led beginning of the
seventeenth century, although there are referetocgewterers as early as
1470 (SMR No 4770.1.0). A deed of 1606-7 lists dtgrocalled Edward
Marckland on Standishgate (QDD/16/m4d), a panmakamed Thurstan
Pemberton is listed in 1619-20 (QDD/28/m1), andhefttis recorded from a
pewterer named James Scott in 1629 (QSB/1/62/53).

3.3.12 Standishgate during the seventeenth century wasgle prosperous and busy
area, much involved in the industry and commercehef town. Coal also
became one of the main commodities behind the ecmnprosperity of the
town. Indeed the Wigan coalfield has been descriagdone of the most
important of the seventeenth century Lancashirelfietss (Farrer and
Brownbill (eds) 1908, 357), partially on account radh deposits of cannel
coal. Cannel coal burns with a bright flame anddpo®s very little ash, and
thus was in great demand for household use andiaha sold for a higher
price than ordinary coal. The coal industry corgithtto expand during the
eighteenth and nineteenth century, helped by tmepteiion of the Douglas
Navigation in 1742 and the completion of the Leadd Liverpool Canal in
1774, which generated large amounts of trade waland (Clarke 1994, 43).

3.3.13 Further transport links including a canal branch Manchester and the
construction of the railways continued to enhandgaWs production during
the nineteenth century. By 1874 there were 140ermb operating in the
Wigan area, many of which continued in use into thwentieth century
(Ashmore 1982).

3.3.14 Specific changes to Standishgate itself are diffitu identify, although it is
recorded that the road level was significantly gdehduring the nineteenth
century Wwhen the street paving was changed... from ‘petrikigbheys’ to
squared settsand was lowered at the Mab’s Cross end and raised at the
bottom of the hill(Anon 1911, 9). Again the development area isuioate in
being positioned close to Mab’s Cross as therenaneerous depictions of this
showing the buildings fronting the street, incluglirthose within the
development area. The earliest of these date3800 (Plate 1: from Porteus
1940), and shows what is probably the front of 130a, which has two very
evident blind dormers, and buildings either sideisTsame scene is repeated
by Roby in 1829 (1866), and again by Whitehousthdalgh this is essentially
a copy of Roby) in 1837 (Plate 2). A photograplobably dating to the end of
the nineteenth century, identifies this buildingtlas Golden Cross Inn (Plate
4) and shows that this double blind dormer fronsti#l present. A further
photograph of 1912 demonstrates it is still thees@Riate 5), as does a similar
view of about the same time (File 3/2 67687/4 nM.is difficult to estimate
the age of the building shown in these picturethoaigh elements of the
window surrounds in Plate 4 might suggest a laghteenth to nineteenth
century date. It is noteworthy, however, that thiedodormers are similar in
style to those shown in the early depiction of Malross (Plate 7), which
might suggest that these are at least sixteergbvanteenth century.

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004
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4. DESK-BASED ASSESSMENT RESULTS

4.1

41.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

4.1.4

4.2

421

INTRODUCTION

The position of the site in what was historicallartp of the county of
Lancashire means that the sources relating toree ae located in a number
of places. Both primary and secondary sources wersulted in order to
elucidate both the development and function ofgtamding remains of 130-
130a Standishgate prior to the survey, and idettégypotential archaeological
resource within the entire development area paamy below-ground work.

A study area of approximately 150m radius aroureddévelopment area was
examined. This small size of area was chosen beaaiuthe urban nature of
the site and the inherent likelihood of sites beuhgntified in such an area,
particularly standing buildings. Other sites okmast from the wider area were
also noted and included as appropriate in the vadkgl history $ection 3.

A large number of documentary sources were corsuaich relate directly
to the site and these were included in the backgtdustory, rather than used
to inform the assessment results, although sonmeegits were used as part of
the recommendations and produced sites which wadedato the gazetteer
(Appendix 3.

In total, 11 sites of archaeological interest welentified within the study
area. The majority were buildings, many of whichrevéisted, which were
recorded in the GMSMR. All of the sites are detailm the gazetteer
(Appendix 3 and outlined in Table 1 below:

Site Type Number Sites Periods
Building 4 06, 10-11 Post-medieval
Listed building 5 02, 05, 07-09 Post-medieval
Cross or site 0 2 01, 03 Medieval
cross
Other 1 04 (toll bars) Post-medieval
structures

Table 1: Outline of sites identified during deskséd assessment

GREATER MANCHESTER SITESAND MONUMENTS RECORD

The Greater Manchester Sites and Monuments Re@MSMR) situated

within the GMAU was consulted in order to establigshat, if any, sites of

archaeological interest were known from the immiedarea. The SMR is a
list of all known sites of archaeological interesthin the Greater Manchester
area maintained by the city council.
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4.2.2

4.2.3

4.3

4.3.1

4.4

44.1

4.5

45.1

45.2

4.6

4.6.1

A total of 9 sites was recorded within the studgaain the GMSMR (Site8l
and 5-11). The majority of these were, perhaps unsurprigiig an urban
area, Listed Buildings and similar structures. Timfrmation was used to
provide information about the likelihood of otheites of archaeological
interest being identified within the developmerdaar

A number of secondary sources including unpublishexgborts for
archaeological work elsewhere in Wigan were alstsatied.

WIGAN CONSERVATION OFFICER

Details of the positions of Listed Buildings in thaeinity of the development
area and the extent of any relevant conservatieasawere obtained from the
Wigan Conservation Officer. This information conied the presence of
those listed building recorded in the GMSMR and vetnb that the
development is within the Wigan Conservation Amaingle site (the Mab’s
Cross Hotel:02) was also identified through consultation with thAégan
Conservation Officer.

WIGAN HISTORY SHOP

A number of primary sources, particularly maps aedspaper articles were
consulted at the Wigan History Shop. Several semgndources such as
directories and local histories were also examinéd. additional sites of
archaeological interest were identified.

L ANCASHIRE COUNTY RECORD OFFICE, PRESTON (CRO(PRESTON)

Further primary sources including deeds and otlemguchents relating to

Standishgate were examined in the County Recondéifi Preston. Although

many of these were not directly relevant to theetlgyment area they provide
contemporary evidence for the type of activity dmgsinesses present on
Standishgate.

An additional two sites of archaeological interegre identified within the
study area through reference to original docume®ise of these is the
original location of Mab’s Cross (Si8), which was positioned much closer
to the development area before 1921. The secondheawll bars (Sit€4)
identified in the plan of property making up pafttbe development area
dating to the eighteenth century (Fig 8).

WIGAN HERITAGE SERVICE ARCHIVES, LEIGH TOWN HALL

Additional primary sources including deeds and espf court documents, as
well as secondary sources were examined in LeigaimrAmany of these could
not be shown to be specifically relating to the elegment area, but they
provided evidence for a number of aspects of life Standishgate. No
additional sites of archaeological interest weentdied.
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4.7

4.7.1

4.8

4.8.1

4.9

49.1

4.9.2

4.9.3

LANCASTER CITY LIBRARY

Secondary sources, specifically journals providinfprmation about Mab’s
Cross, were examined in the Lancaster City Libré&dg. additional sites of
archaeological interest were identified.

OA NORTH LIBRARY

OA North has previously carried out projects in Afigand neighbouring areas
and the reports for these were consulted were sagesAdditional secondary
sources were also examined in order to providerimédion for the historical
background. No additional sites of archaeologictdriest were identified.

RESULTS

The development area: the various deeds and other documentary sources hav
allowed a relatively detailed account of the depelent area to be compiled.
This has allowed elements of the buildings on the to be identfied, even
mapped in some cases, as well as some detailg afctupiers, trades and so
forth.

120-130 Standishgate: the most recent deeds, which were supplied by the
client, break the development area into three lspdR20-124 Standishgate,
130-130a Standishgate and the row of cottages thel®®-130a. Part of a
large collection of deeds held in the Lancashireir@®p Record Office in
Preston (DDSc 129/47) also appear to relate to sumad of the deeds held
by the client. These date back to the seventeamttury, but only those dating

to the eighteenth and early nineteenth century cccag related to the
development area with any certainty.

120-124 Standishgate: the earliest references appear to be a series of
documents dating between 1704 and 1718 (DDSc 1p9T#ése relate to the
Hulme family (spelt variously: Hoolme, Sculme andlide), who are listed as
‘patenmakers’ and describe a messuage, burgagenement with gardens,
which in 1718 were in the possession of Hugh anthé#ne Hoarth. A series
of articles of agreement between Robert Holt antie¥aHolmes, a brick
maker, dating to 1722 describe messuage burgage or dwelling house
situated near ye Toll Barr at ye upper end of yan8ishgate in Wigan...
lately in ye possession of Mary Gerard widdq@wDSc 129/47), which may
relate to this property. A further assignment o234 may also be referring to it
and a lease of 1745 may relate to the same propsrilydescribes @obuse,
outhousing garden orchard and crofiA plan included with these deeds
labelled ‘Naylor's Houses’ and showing toll barsvesll as a barn, shippon,
cottages and even a dung heap evidently makeseugadiithern part of the
development area and the land relating to 120-13Adishgate (Fig 4). This
plan is undated but is presumably eighteenth cgntand certainly predates
structures shown on the site in 1847 (OrdnanceeSiirv

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004



130-130a Standishgate, Wigan: Archaeological Bagdinvestigation 15

49.4

4.9.5

4.9.6

4.9.7

It is not clear where they passed after this datettseems likely that by the
late eighteenth century it had been acquired by DRieonson and Bold
families before becoming part of a large estated H®} the Scarisbricks.
Charles Scarisbrick is recorded as having parttibhis estate in 1852 (DDSc
129/47, 1852) at which time this plot is recordedhe client's deeds as being
passed to James Lea. It then passed to James Dawtzedied in 1866, and
then to John Woods in 1870. It appears to have iradan the hands of the
Woods family until 1950 when it passed to Herbeihsley. Planning
permission had been granted for the erection @fragg in 1949 and following
the purchase by Tinsley all of the standing stneswere demolished and the
garage and forecourt created which remains todaig. mot known how old
these structures were at this time, although a yoBarough of Wigan land
charges account of 1950 states that both 120 aaev&® in poor condition.

Tracing this property through other records suchdasctories was made
difficult due to an apparent renumbering of thistjgd the street which took
place in the late nineteenth century. Nevertheiess clear from other houses
on the street that during the nineteenth and emvigntieth century that
properties were occupied by people engaged in a wadliety of professions
and there were several shops present.

130-130a Standishgate: earlier references for this block of property wace

as easy to identify. A lease dated to 1820 destribemessuage or
dwellinghouse and tenement with the Maltkiln Brewg®Stable... lying and
being near the Toll Bars in... Standishgate Streetl &lso all that Cottage or
Dwellinghouse with the smithpwned by Thomas Fisher and occupied by
John Rushton, John Latham and Thomas Dawber (DR2SET). This lease
makes reference to an earlier agreement of 18@3uprably with the same
description. There is a further reference to MihErsand rents received from
Samuel Bold’s estate in 1818, which probably inellidhis property. The
description of 1820 is carried through into theewtis deeds which first
describe it as a public house in 1851, althoughkregices are made to at an
earlier date. The deeds of 1851 also include shopiraber 118 and the eight
cottages to the rear of 130-130a in what was thadéh Cross Yard as part of
a single property. The property appears to have passed between members
of the Fisher and Moore family before being transfé in 1896 to Thomas
Farrimond. He leased and mortgaged the propertyngber of times before it
was finally conveyed to Francis Sheargold in 1960.

The fact that the buildings currently making up -i30a Standishgate were
used as a public house makes it much easier te then. A number of inns
are listed as being present on Standishgate frairearly date. A total of six
people licensed to keep alehouses were resideStantishgate from as early
as 1634 (Anon 1634, 30-1), five of whom are widothig, other described as a
brazier. A letter of 1688 describes an alehoabeut the midst of the Standish
gaté (DDKe 9/62/22). The Golden Cross is listed adyeas 1797 under the
name John Rushton (Anon 1908, 2) and it remainseptento the twentieth
century, as outlined in Table 2 below:
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Year Occupier Source

1797 John Rushton Anon 1908, 2

1807 - Richardsoet al 1980, 1

1824 Margaret Fishwick Baines 1824, 620

1828 M. Fishwick Pigot and Co 1828, 469

1838 William Rainsford Pigot and Sons 1838, 188

1841 William Rainford and Census: HO 107 523, 31-2
Jane Rainford

1844 William Rainsford Slater 1844, 104

1853 Thomas Grundy Whellan 1853, 138

1858 John Fogg Kelly and Co 1858, 450

1869 Arthur Lowe Worral 1866, 32

1872 Arthur Lowe Worral 1872, 32

1885 Joseph Morris Rockcliffe Brothers 1885, 184

1890 Joseph Roberts Haslam and Co 1890, 101

1903 James Taylor Thomas Weaver and Co 1903, 21

Table 2: Recorded occupiers of the Golden Crossa @97 to 1903

4.9.8 It is not clear when the building stopped beingduses a pub. Thomas
Farrimond was a brewer originally based in Ormskatkd is known to have
owned a number of pubs in the Wigan area (Richardsal 1979, 12-3). He
sold his company in 1954b{d), which would fit well with the date at which
the property was conveyed to Francis Sheargold.eStme after 1903 the
building appears to have been split into two residé properties which are
occupied by a plasterer and painter and decoratoi®09 (Seed and Sons
1909, 104), a farmer in 1925, in 130a, (Seed anas 9®25, 153) and two
single women in 1953 (Kent Services Ltd 1953).

4.9.9 Cottages. the earliest references to the row of cottages noeli30-130a
appear to date to 1851, although it is likely teame or all of them are
included in the deeds dating to 1820 (DDSc 129/4iAgy remain part of the
same block of property until sometime between 1&6@ 1977, at which point
there are separate deeds for them and they areegbte as garages.

4.9.10 The occupiers of the cottages are not always listdde directories, but they
seem to have typically been inhabited by minersahdr labourers during the
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early twentieth century, as well as other manuafgssions such as a joiner
and a fireman.

4.9.11 Historic Map Regression: the specific sites of archaeological interest that
were identified within the wider study area areeimted to give an impression
of the archaeological resource around the developraeea. Within the
development area itself, however, several featungsncipally earlier
arrangements of buildings than those now preseatst@own on historic maps
of the area. While these buildings are not sites Would be recorded in their
own right (in the SMR for example), they do makeampimportant part of the
developing landscape of this part of Wigan.

4.9.12 The earliest known map of Wigan relates to a supasyied out as part of the
proposed River Douglas Navigation and dates to {DF2175). Standishgate
is shown and although individual properties arekmdrit is not possible to
identify the study area. Indeed, there do not apfmebe any buildings shown
that far along Standishgate, although this may liBseortion of scale. The
development area is fortunate, however, in havidgtailed plan, probably of
eighteenth century date, showing approximately sbathern half of the
development area (Fig 8). This plan shows not dolyses on the street front
but also houses to the rear, including small cedag barn (with a pair of
large threshing doors), a shippon (marked ‘shipemhard, gardens and even
a dung heap.

4.9.13 The first detailed map of the whole of Wigan dates1827 (Mather).
Although not as clear as later maps it shows thdines of long plots of
medieval origin, and it is possible to identify teudy area: the L-shaped
block formed by the cottages to the rear of 130al80 not recognisable,
although buildings along the street frontage asear@ buildings attached to
the north-west corner of this (Fig 4). A field teetwest named brick kiln field
is also shown. A map of 1837 (Kellet) shows a samiével of detail and the
same features of the study area are again iddéfia

4.9.14 The Ordnance Survey plan of 1847 is by far the rdettiled early map of the
site and the first to show the Golden Cross by néaig 5). The L-shaped
block of cottages to the rear of this are cleahgven and additional rows of
property are clearly present extending from thetls@eest corner and on the
other side of Cross Yard. The Tithe Map of 1848sdoat show the buildings,
although the apportionment does list ‘Brickfield’ the west (DRL 1/87) The
situation changes little between 1894 and 192%oalih addition buildings
have appeared to the west of the study area (Figh&) map of 1955 shows a
dramatically altered situation, with the whole rofbuilding between 118 and
130 gone and a garage built across the back pé#risoplot (Fig 7).

4.9.15 The L-shaped row of cottages to the rear of 131@¢thich are present on
the earliest map of the area, dating to 1827) wer@ently not destroyed until
relatively recently. They are still present in 19%Hd are shown on plans
provided by the client dating to 2002.
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5. BUILDING INVESTIGATION RESULTS

5.1

5.1.1

5.1.2

5.2
5.2.1

5.2.2

INTRODUCTION

130-130a Standishgate is a remarkably complex ingildonsidering its small
size. It can be divided into three main parts: thain range, side-on to
Standishgate with gables at the north and soutls,eadd two extensions
attached to the rear of this, with gables facingh® west. Internally, it is
divided into four rooms on the ground floor andefion the first floor (Figs 9
and 10).

The condition of the building and finish of many thie walls and ceilings
made access difficult to some areas. Where postiibe were viewed from
adjoining rooms, and in some areas patches ofeplastre removed from the
wall to allow their build to be examined in detail.

FABRIC

The walls are typically built of brick, although madifferent types of and

styles of bond have been used throughout the IngildThe types of brick

present are summarised in Table 2 (these are ntépded to represent 130-
130a Standishgate, and not brick types throughagak:

Brick Size Colour Features Date

type

1 | 0.05m-0.06m thick | Dark orange-redds, 08, 18 Latheléh -
17" C

2 | 0.25m x 0.06m thick Light orange-red6, 15, 25, | 17" — early
43, 49 18" C

3 |0.225m x 0.105m x Mid-orange 02, 07, 19, | Mid 18" —

0.07m 26, 29, 31, | early 19" C
40, 44, 48
4 |021m x 0.11m x Pale red 11,22, 42 | Late 18" —
0.08m mid 19" C
5 [0.23m x 0.11m x Mid-reddish 01 Early 20" C
0.08m orange

Table 2: Brick typology for 130-130a Standishgate

The floors are all finished with a concrete skim twe ground floor and
comprise timber boards on the first, and in almalstcases are covered by
fitted carpets. Internally, and in most cases sy, the walls are finished
with plaster and paint (and/or wall paper inteiyjallThe roof appeared to be
finished with slate and ceramic bonnet ridge ti(@though it had been
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5.3

5.3.1

5.3.2

5.3.3

covered with some form of waterproof fabric) onghthand-finished purlins

and rafters, with no original trusses being visithi®@wever, internally it was

evident that at least part of the roof consistethof sandstone flags held by
timber pegs.

EXTERNAL ELEVATIONS

The east (front) elevation (Plate 6) is arlatiition Q1) and comprises brick

type 5 (Table 2) in English Garden Wall bond (atatio of three rows of

stretchers to one row of headers) with six profgcstringcourses. There are
two gabled dormer windows projecting above the saweith decorative

bargeboard and finials, and two further windowstlo@ ground floor, all of

which have sliding sash windows. Between the uppedows and along the

eaves on either side are timber, square-sectiorergutThere are also two
doorways on the ground floor, both with fluted jemlnd denticulate

decoration across the lintel.

The north elevation is entirely covered bypagh ‘country cottage’ style coat
of painted render, which obscures any details. sltconnected to the
neighbouring property on the east side by a tinalpeln and there is a stub wall
of brick type 2 built onto the north-east cornég)( Along the base of the
elevation there is a low retaining wall, attachedhe main building with an
infill of concrete 04). The main part of this elevation comprises thelgaf
the eastern block of the building, which has a oceteccoping along the top
and the end of a beam projecting through the Wwakk west end show signs of
several alterations as there are numerous steps imall line.

The west elevation consists of the two gables eftiho rear extensions. The
southern gable (Plate 9) has been rebuilt in biyple 4 @1) laid in roughly
English Garden Wall bond (at a ratio of five rowsstretchers to one row of
headers, although there are some additional halk$)r The ends of two
rough, hand-finished purlins are visible below #eves, and the guttering
from the south elevation continues along part ef ¢ast end. There are two
windows on the first floor, each with round-hea@ech lintels and stone sills.
On the ground floor there is a large inserted dagnm the east end with a
timber lintel (L0), which has been filled with concrete block)( and to the
north of this is an original doorway with a low ar¢Fig 9), which is also
blocked @2). Above both of these the scar of a single-pitclsiout is also
visible, with associated lead flashing and waterpift3). The north and south
walls of the north gable (Plate 8) both originaiktended to the west, and the
stub walls of this remain. The first floor of therth gable is filled with
concrete blocks 1), and presumably originally allowed access to the
extension to the west. The lower part is built @igh hand-made bricks of
type 2 (5) with a narrow doorway on north sidé7f and a window in the
centre 16). Both have been filled, the former with concretecks and the
later with hand-made bricks. An additional doorvwes been inserted into the
wall on the south endl4), and the corresponding rebuild on the south end
overlies the broken stub wall projecting to the wé@sis doorway has also
been filled with concrete blocks.
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5.3.4

5.3.5

5.4

5.4.1

5.4.2

The south elevation (Plate 7) has a continuaticsoaie of the brickwork from
the front Q1) across the lower part of it, effectively formiagwide buttress
with two plinths. This also continues into the uppart of the wall @5),
forming brick ‘quoins’ at the corners. The eastt ffarms the gable of the front
range of the building, the roof of which is finisheith plain barge boards,
although the west side of this has been rai®éyl The west end returns into
the southern of the two rear extensiod8),(within which is a single window
with a stone sill, which is blocked with boards eTéaves of this section slope
up slightly to meet the roof of the front block,dathe ends of the purlins are
visible below the guttering.

The wall extending to the rear (west) of 130-130mprises all that remains
of the row of cottages that were present here fabteast 1849. The majority
of the wall has been finished with a skim of rendehich obscures any
details, although at the east end there are sositdevieatures of interest. The
majority of the bricks appear to be of type 1, behavith a lose mid brown
clay mortar with numerous inclusions such as bbwent matter and even a
clay pipe bowl (se&ection5.5.1). Immediately beyond the west elevation of
130-130a are the remains of a blocked aperturemi\witle 03), with some
stone built into the wall forming the sill (Plat@)1 The remains of rebuilding
associated with a dampcourse are evident along#jerity of the base of the
wall. There is a return forming a stub wall beyotite window B2),
immediately west of which a row of dressed storabslon end have been
positioned along the wall base and there are furtberses of stone to the
west of this §3). There is a further blocked aperture beyond tlig$e 1.37m
wide, which lies immediately to the east of a secogturn in the wall line.
This return is constructed of rough sand stoneKslos 0.55m wide, and is
butted by the brickwork to the eaSbJ.

INTERNAL DETAIL

The rooms making up the ground floor are diithetween the three parts of
the building with Roomsl and 4 (ground floor) and5 and 6 (first floor)
forming the front and Room2 (north, ground floor) an@® (south, ground
floor) and Room8 (north, first floor) and Room# and9 (south, first floor)
forming the two rear extensions (Figs 9 and 10).

Rooml (Fig 9) is a large reception room decorated witster cornice and
ceiling rose and with a large brick (type 3) chimmeeast {9) added against
the north elevationl@; Plate 11). There is a large open fireplace withiis
with a rounded voussoir brick arch supported byram strap. A large aperture
has been inserted into the west elevati), (with steps and a banister leading
into Room2, and a similar large aperture has been inserted the south
elevation 23). The wall making up the south-west corn2?)(forms part of
what is effectively an irregular brick (type 4) lar’ (Fig 9), which evidently
relates to a phase of significant alteration witthia building. To the south of
Room1 is an entry corridor (Rooria) linking the main front door to the back
of the house. This is further separated by a dodh wecorative glass
panelling at the east end forming a small porcle walls of which are
panelled and there is a small cupbod&d) uilt into the north elevation. The
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5.4.3

5.4.4

5.4.5

5.4.6

5.4.7

west end of the corridor has a decorative archiwitie ceiling with scrolled
foliate corbels, below which has been added a ed@camp 38) giving easier
access to the rear of the building.

Room4 forms the southern rear extension, and is a semreption room. It
too has a cornice although the associated ceilngpcises tongue and groove
boards, which are in turn supported by a large @eblamfered beani34;
Plate 14; Brunskill 1999, 108-9). There is a chisniheeast attached to the
south elevation3l), which houses an iron range (marked with the nafe
GORMAN WIGAN’) and is decorated with an iron surnebwith pilasters
and a central rose boss (Plate 13). In the sowh-@aner there is a large
built-in dresser with shelves and draweB®)( and in the south-west corner
there is a dogleg staircase connecting to theffost (33), which is probably
relatively early in date but has been extensivébred (Plate 13). Attached to
this is a modern timber shop count8B)( to the north of which there is a
doorway leading into Roord. There is a large aperture inserted into the north
elevation 85), perhaps enlarging an existing doorway.

Room 2 forms the northernmost of the two rear extensidinsas a relatively
modern single-flight timber staircase in the nostist corner7) and a small
fireplace to the east of thi2g) with a square dressed stone surround (Plate
12). This surround is a later alteration (brick éyp), although the flue is
evidently earlier and has apparently been trunchiethe floor in Roons.
The floor level is raised relative to the eastelock, but also comprises a
concrete skim. There is a large boxed beam comgrisvo iron I-beams on
the south side, which form the lintel of a largerpre that has been inserted
into the south elevation28). The west elevation contains the two blocked
doorways {4 and 15) visible from the outside, the southern of whics ha
timber lintel (14). Then blocked windowlg) is obscured by plaster and paint.

Room 3 is a small room within the southern rear extensité ceiling is
supported by a large flat chamfered beam orientatath/south, similar in
style to that in Roon# but less decorative3Q). There is a chimney breast
attached to the wall in the south-east corner Kagipe 3) with the remains of
a small iron rangen situ and a decorative iron surround9). There is a
doorway in the east elevation, with steps leadiogrdinto Room4 and a
moulded timber surround, and a similar doorwayhmnorth elevation.

The rooms of the first floor are similarly divideéetween the three main parts
of the building (Fig 10), with two rooms making the front 6 and6), one
room forming the northern rear extension (Ro8rand two rooms forming
the southern rear extension (Roomand9). There are distinct differences in
floor level on the first floor, not only betweeretleast and west sides but also
between the north and south ends.

Rooms5 and6 form the front part of the building. Roohkis large, perhaps
originally a master bedroom. There is a hole in ¢b#ing on the west side
exposing the roof above which comprises hand-fedshafters and some
machine-finished additions, coming to meet the wesll. A single hand-

finished purlin is also visible and the roof isiéined with slates held by iron
nails. Either side of the window in the east elmratare beaded boards
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attached at 45 degrees between the wall and tlieg;eivhich presumably
cover principal rafters forming part of the roofhére is a chimney breast
attached to the north elevatiod0] housing an off-centre fireplace with an
iron surround decorated with foliage, urns andlspashells (Plate 15). The
northern end of the west elevation is a relativebdern stud partition finished
with lathe and plaste4l), and there is also lathe and plaster covering the
brick wall making up the south elevation. The seuthpart of the west
elevation is brick (brick types 3 and 4), but wamumber of timbers built in
(42), and the west end of the south elevation, beybadloorway is covered
by a layer of rough clayey plaster containing readd other inclusions and
there are a number of hand-finished pieces of tirbbét into it (43).

5.4.8 Roomgé, to the south of Roorh, has been extensively modernised. There is a
chimney breast (same &%) attached to the south elevation with a fireplace
finished with modern stone cladding. Behind this temains of a brick flue
(brick type 3) and pieces of the iron surround sti# present. The west
elevation comprises beaded tongue and groove paitdlsa doorway to the
stairs at the north end and a large shelf in ththsavest corner. There are the
covered ends of what are probably two more princiadters projecting
through the ceiling and into the top of the easwation, either side of the
four-light sliding sash window.

5.4.9 The southernmost room of the southern rear exter{f oom7) was evidently
most recently used as a bathroom. There is a réisder platform along the
west side of the room (not apparently attachechéowalls or floor), which
presumably originally supported a bath or similatture. The scars for
bathroom fittings are visible across most of thdlsyand a series of water
pipes have been driven through the west elevatoemall chimney breast
(brick type 3) has been added to the south-eastecowithin which is a
fireplace with a rounded arch and the remains aé@orated hob gratd4). A
hole @5) has been knocked through the east side of timsrey breast cutting
through a separate flue, which connects to the méynbreast in Roor, to
accommodate a plastic water pipe which is visibbenf the outside. The east
elevation has a doorway on the north end andribigeable that the top 0.6m
are slightly thinner than the lower part of the \46; Fig 12).

5.4.10 Room 8 makes up the northern rear extension. The rendire lathe and
plaster ceiling, which originally had two ‘*hoodsirfskylights, is visible below
the roof proper. The roof comprises a single hamdHed purlin in each pitch
supporting hand-finished rafters and yellow sanustibags with timber pegs
(47; Fig 11). The southern purlin has a row of releg-holes across its
northern face and the northern purlin (and roof &pparently been truncated
by alterations to the north elevation. The ridgelipus a later addition and
against the west elevation a simple truss has bhdded comprising a king
post and principal rafters (Plate 16).

5.4.11 The west elevation is entirely obscured by plastelow the level of the
ceiling, which continues in places onto all of thtber elevations. There is a
doorway on the north side, filled with concretedid® (part of12). The north
elevation has evidently been considerably altetkd;east end steps to the
south @8), and the brickwork (type 2) is partially built tonthat in the east
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elevation 49; Plate 17). This apparently relates to the remaov¥glart of the
roof structure in the north-east corner (Figs 1€ &), and there is a short
length of timber projecting through the wall atstipoint that is likely to be a
reused part of this. The north-west corner hasladsm extensively repaired or
rebuilt with a thick coating of cemert(). The east elevation has a doorway
on the south side. The lower part of this is a giadition wall, as seen in
Room 5 41), while the upper part is built of type 1 brickparently only one
skin thick @9). The south elevation is badly damaged and agtizellapsing
(51). It has a doorway on the west side with a cobdpsmber lintel and on
the east side there is evidence for a possiblensedoorway or line of rebuild
of some form.

5.4.12 It was not possible to access RoO®ndue to the condition of the north wall,

5.5

5.5.1

but it was evident that it forms part of the soatheear extension. The roof of
this extension slopes down from the south sidedetrthe north wall of Room
9 where it rests on a large piece of timber. The rommotherwise
unremarkable

FINDS

A single intact clay pipe bowl with part of the st@vas discovered within the
wall fabric of the east end of the wall to the real30-130a Standishgate. It
is not clear whether this was originally built intbe wall (and therefore
contemporary with its construction) or simply pusie at a later date. It was,
however, noted that the clay mortar bonding thekiwork within this wall
had an number of large inclusions including burrdttar, bone and small
stones and so the clay pipe could have been addéaetwall in a similar
manner. The pipe bowl is decorated with rows o¥ésaalong its seam and has
a small spur. It is likely to date froo1820-1850 (Oswald 1975, 55).
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6. WATCHING BRIEF RESULTS

6.1

6.1.1

6.2
6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

INTRODUCTION

The watching brief was undertaken during teendition of 130 and 130a
Standishgate, in order to complete the recordingaofs of the structure that
had previously been inaccessible, and to allowharrinvestigation into the
development of the building by removing elementsooining earlier detail.

RESULTS

Much of the roof space was inaccessible at the twohethe original
investigation, in particular the north/south-align®of over the original part
of the structure (above Roordsand6), and the roof above the south wing
(Rooms7 and9). The roof over the north wing (Roo8) collapsed during the
removal of tiles, but did reveal the use of sanmusttlags amongst the Welsh
slate tiles, as observed during the earlier ingatitn (seeSection 5.4.10
above).

The roof space above roorBsand6 comprised only two bays, divided by a
simple collared tie-beam truss (although the tiaAbecould not be observed
within the roof space). The single-piece ridge ipunas trenched into the base
of the eastern principal rafter, which had the ewesprincipal rafter tenoned
and single-pegged into its soffit (Plate 18). A &wscantling collar was
pegged into the principal rafters, above the simyldin on each pitch. The
purlins were of slightly larger scantling than thdge, ¢ 0.2m?, and were
observed to be stop-chamfered (Plate 19), andheshmnto the truss, above
which they were jointed with a double-pegged, faabred, bridled scarf joint
(Plate 20). It is interesting that the pegs weoated near the top of the tenon,
and were level (Plate 19), rather than diagondfiget, as was more common.
This may explain why the joint had opened undegsstrthe southern member
having moved slightly to the south, twisting thegpe The purlins were
overlain by roughly dressed rafters, many of whigre waney-edged, pegged
into the ridge purlin (Plate 21). Those on the wespitch appeared replaced,
and had additional short rafters, saddled ontobtiteom edges, to throw the
roof onto the increased width of Rodrbelow (Fig 10). At its northern end
the ridge purlin was supported on a chamfered brarkel (Plate 22), which
formed part of the late chimney stack.

The roof above the south wing was carried on tlsteea wall of Room 7 (Fig
10), which continued to support the ridge. The walls of double-skin,
mould-thrown brick construction, bonded in a pafeel mortar. Much of the
eastern face was plaster finished, above a coveafrdpub (Plate 23). The
single purlin of the north pitch sits on the stepppeckwork of the upper wall,
whilst the ridge comprises two members, each rgstim the wall-top, and
apparently not jointed together. The eastern ridgsplayed and pegged onto
the back of a wider (0.20m) rafter (Plate 24) oe thest pitch of the
north/south-aligned roof. Valley rafters are alsober pegged onto the back
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6.2.4

6.2.5

of this wider rafter (Plate 25). To the west of tlwall supporting the roof
structure an east/west-aligned wall appeared tbateened onto the edges of
the rafters of the north pitch. The wall was headaubed on the northern
face, and represented the continuation of the igigvalls between Roonis
and9 (Fig 10).

Daub infill panelling was also observed within thess, above and below the
collar (Plate 26), and also survived, in patchesyben the principal rafter on
the east pitch and the common rafter above (PRYeRemoval of plaster on
the south side of wall3, within Room6 (Fig 10) revealed laths, which in the
upper part concealed a void, and covered a bridkhetow. Removal of the
laths revealed the curving tie-beam of the trusth wallpaper covering the
daub panel above, and a brick wall below (Plate €1)se inspection of the
brick wall revealed it to be only a facing skinda earlier wall. Its removal
revealed that the wallpaper continued to floor leaad outlines suggested
timber framing below the tie-beam (Plate 28). Hagers of wallpaper were
observed, all relatively plain floral patterns, masobably all printed, and
probably spanning the entire Victorian period iteddhe bricks of the facing
skin comprised mainly thin 9%” x 434" x 2Y%" bricksyith occasional
extruded, late nineteenth, or possibly early twethtcentury larger bricks. The
thin, mould-thrown bricks bore straw-marks from thiging process, and most
probably date from an original part of the struettinat was removed at this
time. These bricks are the exact size of ‘StatutekB’, a dimension
established by the Brickmakers’ Charter of 1571rig4e1974, 74).

Underlying the wallpaper was a timber-framed cnoadl; comprising six,
approximately 3’ panels, the four posts of whichrevdouble-pegged into a
floor-level beam and into the tie-beam of the trokserved in the roof space,
0.37m below the surviving ceiling level (Fig 12)otzontal rails, 5" (0.13m)
wide were single-pegged into the 6” (0.15m) widstppwhich sat within the
external wall at the eastern side. The positiorthef western post strongly
suggests that a doorway was positioned to the inegte the external wall.
The panels comprised horizontally laid, blade-gudttles overlain by a thick
layer of daub. Where a small section was exposéditeer rail was observed
along the western edge of a panel, but not aloaghse. Excavation of the
base of the brick wall revealed an earlier timbeor, 50mm lower than the
latest floor, with 12" (0.30m) wide north/southgaled floorboards. These
butted the cross-frame, but would appear contennpora
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7. DISCUSSION

7.1

7.1.1

1.2

7.2.1

71.2.2

7.2.3

120-130 STANDISHGATE

The fortunate survival of deeds and documeelsting to the properties
covered by 120-130 Standishgate has provided athve#ldetail about the
development site. It is clear that the plots caddted by documentary sources
to the seventeenth century, although they areyliteehave earlier origins, and
that from the eighteenth century onwards a numbandividual features can
be identified and in some cases accurately positioifhese features include
not only dwelling houses and cottages but also & kila, brew house and
smithy (associated with 130-130a), and a barn psimgand other outbuildings
(associated with 120-124). Although not of hugehaswlogical significance,
the potential for the development area to providtaited information about
post-medieval and medieval Wigan is potentiallyv@gh.

130-130A STANDISHGATE

The building investigation has also provided a éaegnount of information,
not all of it as straight forward to interpret & tresults of the desk-based
assessment. Some of this information can be releohwith the results of the
desk-based assessment, while some fits less e@b#ybuilding retains some
features typical of other historic properties in gah, such as the blind
dormers or gables (Powell 1998, 1). The consideralikration it has been
subject to does, however, include a variety of estylincluding early
vernacular, elements of the Georgian wish for pridpaality (the fireplace in
Room1 for example) and even twentieth century attemptsimic the earlier
style (the front elevation), which has occurredeefsere in Wigan ilid).
What remains is in effect a palimpsest, within viahis summarised most of
the key historic phases of the building’s use. Tihisurn forms an inherent
part of, and is in itself a summary of, the postdraeal history Wigan.

There appear to be seven main phases of construatid/or alteration within
the building. These range from its original constian to the most recent
phases of alteration and include both substarglalitding and more cosmetic
alterations. It is not evident from the documentsoyrces whether there are
any earlier phases than those visible within theaies of the building.
However, the blind dormers visible in early illigions of the site (Plate 1)
have the appearance of slight jettying with mullismdows below, perhaps
suggesting a timber-framed structure.

Phase 1: the earliest part of the structure comprises tratting Standishgate
(Roomsl, 4, 5 and6), and probably the south wing (Roo)/, 9 and part of

Room2). The front of the structure was divided by a ténlbross-frame, just

south of centre, suggesting a cross-passage plangament, with a smaller
service end at the south, and larger parlour totith. The angle of the cross-
frame (most noticeable on the first floor (Fig 18d the discrepancy in depth
of the south elevation at the base of stadsnd cupboar@2, suggest that the

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004



130-130a Standishgate, Wigan: Archaeological Bagdinvestigation 27

7.2.4

7.2.5

7.2.6

1.2.7

southern end of the building was not parallel tan8tshgate. The cross-wall
could not have housed an inglenook fireplace, aigl therefore, most likely
that fireplacesl9 and 31 occupy original positions. The decorative be&d,
appears to have jointed the cross-wall into thetrmon end-wall of the
property, above the fireplace. The building hads floor, slightly lower than
that present, presumably supported in the souteedhon joists attached to
beam34. It is unclear how they were supported in the memt part, but the
doorway revealed at the top of the later stairca3edemonstrates that it must
have been floored. The continuation of the daulelliag into the roof space,
and the decoratively stop-chamfered purlins of tbef structure strongly
suggest that the first floor was open to the raftand most probably
underdressed with plastered daub.

The watching brief demonstrated that the eveslsextended to the west, into
the southern wing, as shown by the daub panellitigimvthe roof space. The
parallel alignment of its southern wa8)( and the contemporary appearance
and jointing of the roof structure, would also sesjgthat the south wing was a
contemporary structure, facing onto a passage d@ostiuth of the building.
This T-shaped plan arrangement is a progressiothenfcross-passage plan
form, allowing for the service part of the builditg be moved into the rear,
with the smaller front room becoming the parlourd dhe larger becoming a
hall. Such structures were commonly constructeanfio 1670-1810, and
frequently had the staircase next to the parlaer (@Brunskill 1997a, 81). The
similar, but more plain nature of the chamferednbea Room3, compared
with that in Room¥, is also consistent with this arrangement, padity as
the latter would appear to decorative for the senend of a cross-passage
house. The type of construction of the wattle aadbdpanels is relatively
crude, compared to medieval timber frame constactand represents an
non-structural partition, typical of this periodnda observed in similar
structures in Lancashire.

The earliest known use of brick in Lancashire isutiht to date to 1545
(Miller 2002, 146), and while it is unlikely thaB@-130a Standishgate is as
early it is possible. Brick is thought to have baeed in Wigan from the
sixteenth century (Powell 1998, 2), and was adoptede widely, and in
lower status buildings, by the mid seventeenthugniMiller 2002, 146). The
position of brick kilns to the west of Standishgateght suggest that bricks
were relatively easy to obtain in this part of Wigddowever, the brick
observed in the earliest fabric, and re-used ier latocking, would suggest
construction towards the earlier part of the datege above, as bricks tended
to become thicker after the Restoration periodhenlate seventeenth century.

This internal layout of hall and parlour, wgbrvice at the rear, and rooms
above, suggests that the structure was built adbbcphouse, or coaching inn.
It may even have been one of those referred taesept on Standishgate in
1634 (Anon 1634, 30-1) or the one mentioned ondisaigate in 1688 (DDKe
9/62/22).

Phase 2. the northernmost of the two rear extensions agpeahave been a
later addition to the main house. This comprised storeys and partition
walls on the ground floordf). It is not clear how far this extended to the twes
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7.2.8

7.2.9

or what relationship it had with the L-shaped rofacottages that are shown
here in the nineteenth century. It is also notrclelaen this was built. Again,
the thin hand-made type of brick and the roughtyshed timber in the roof
structure suggest that it is also relatively eapgrhaps early eighteenth
century at the latest. It was probably also usedrmasutbuilding, although it
may be one of the industrial buildings mentionedi@éeds at the beginning of
the nineteenth century.

Phase 3. shortly after the second outshut had been coristtud was
significantly modified. The north-eastern cornerswzartially removed and a
return was built into the wall48). In order to achieve this the roof was
partially cut away and new brickwork was addd8)( some of which butts
onto the original brickwork to the ea<t9j. It is not known when this was
carried out or why but it was presumably in orderaccommodate a new
building in the neighbouring plot to the north. $hnformation and the style
of brickwork (which is similar to Phases 1 and Duhd again suggest an early
date, perhaps the beginning of the eighteenth ognilne new corner created
by this alteration included a small flugs§, which may, again, relate to one of
the industrial buildings recorded on the site ia ¢éarly nineteenth century.

Phase 4. further modifications were also made shortly aftes date although
these were largely cosmetic. New chimney breast® weded to the main
reception roomsQ{; Roomsl, 4, 5 and6) as well as to Room3 and7, with
corresponding chimneys, and probably also the -buittupboard §2). The
new northern chimney stack supported the ridgerpofithe main roof with a
projecting corbel, chamfered on its underside, sstigg that the first floor
was still open to the rafters at this time.

7.2.10 A new surround was also added to the smrajplice in Roon® (26). It is

likely that this alteration was carried out at éral of the eighteenth century or
the early part of the nineteenth century and tbisesponds with the period
during which the building is first recorded as lgpinsed as an inn. The
surrounds and ranges may be later additions te ttl@sney breasts, although
they demonstrate the need for a number of cookimgsaand domestic
activity.

7.2.11 Phase 5: the rear wall of the southernmost rear extensid) (as rebuilt

during this phase, probably in conjunction withtages added to the south-
west corner of the building shown on the Ordnanee/é&/ map 1847 (Fig 5).
There may also have been some degree of rearrangemthe internal walls
during this period in order to provide appropriateess between the old and
the new buildings.

7.2.12Phase 6: the most recent major alteration to the buildimyolved the

construction of an entirely new front wall with twd@rmer windows (copying
the style of the original building) and two fronbats (Q1). This probably
corresponds with the point at which the buildingsed being used as a pub
and was divided into two dwellings1(900, shown on Ordnance Survey 1929).
Some of the internal walls were probably also weaged at this time, with
new access being created between the differerg pathe two dwellings. The
staircase in the north-west corner of Rodr{27) was probably also added at

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004



130-130a Standishgate, Wigan: Archaeological Bagdinvestigation 29

this time to provide access to the first floor fbe residents of 130a. The flue
associated with the rebuilding of Phasel®) evidently went out of use at this
time, as it is truncated by the associated flodre Tetention of the original
ranges and lack of major redevelopment at this songgest that these were
not particularly affluent houses.

7.2.13 It was probably at this time that the timframed cross wall was infilled on
the southern side with a brick facing, and that tbef space was partially
undersealed with a lath and plaster ceiling, réfigc the smaller-scale
domestic use of the structure

7.2.14Phase 7: the most recent alterations are largely cosmeiicarrespond to the
building’s use as a shop. The southernmost froot d@s blocked as was the
window in Room3. A timber counter was constructed in Rodr(89) and the
adjoining stairs were remodelle83]. Large apertures were also opened up
between many of the rooms to provide greater ad@es22, 23, 28 and 35).
Bathroom fittings were added to Room(45) and a number of cosmetic
alterations such as shelves and wall finishes weded.
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8 IMPACT AND RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1

8.1.1

8.1.2

8.1.3

8.2
8.2.5

ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCE

The results of the desk-based assessmenharliiding investigation have
shown that there is a wealth of information abdu# site from the late
seventeenth century until the present date, andlieee has been a number of
changes of use, building and demolition at varidimes within the
development area. There is also evidence for mabsattlement within the
development area and there is the possibility ah&o activity in the general
area. The standing remains, demonstrate a numbghades of use and
alteration, with elements probably dating from edst the seventeenth to the
twentieth centuries.

There is great potential for below ground reacross much of the site,
particularly the areas fronting Standishgate (B The extent of those dating
to the medieval period and earlier is difficult ®&scertain, but other
investigations of medieval burgage plots in Wigavéeh revealed substantial
building remains and other physical remains. Postisval remains dating
from at least the seventeenth century are knowmaige existed on the site,
and the position of some can be mapped out taasively high level of detail,
particularly those making up the eighteenth cengaleynents to the rear of the
plot covered by 120-124 Standishgate (Fig 4). Thedsments too are worth
further archaeological investigation, particulabgcause the detailed early
mapping would potentially simplify interpretation.

A number of localised industries are also kmdoeth from the general area:
pewterers, potters, pan makers. Industrial-typeviies are known from the

primary sources to have been undertaken withindéxelopment site itself,

including brewing, smithing and possibly shoe-mgkiand brick-making

(according to the stated occupations of some ofrésgdents). Should the
remains of any of these be present on site theldaeueal a great deal about
the development of medieval and post-medieval Wigan

POTENTIAL IMPACT

The high likelihood of below-ground archaeologicamains being present
within the development area would suggest that sompact is inevitable.
Many of the post-medieval features are likely toabea relatively shallow
depth below the surface and so could be affectedhbymost minimal of
excavations for foundations. Medieval remains wdutdburied below these,
but could still be affected by the developmentuasag they have not already
been destroyed by post-medieval buildings. It i$ dear how extensive
cellars are across the development area (nonelaaated during the building
investigation, but the floors were concreted ov&imilarly, the damage
caused by the construction of the garage in 19%0aay related oil or petrol
tanks is likely to be extensive, but not necesgantal. The demolition of
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8.2.6

8.3
8.3.1

8.3.2

properties to the front of this, prior to any madeevelopment, might in fact
suggest that earlier remains have a better chdrsieaval.

The data from the bore holes is interesting asiggests that in most places
there is a layer of ‘boulder clay’, up to 4m thiakthe front of the plot and
2.5m thick at the rear which could have archaecklgieatures cut into it.
Above this is a layer of ash and brick rubble, ad tim thick, which is most
probably overburden caused by the demolition oliexabuildings, but could
also include thén situremains of buildings. The presence of coal depasits
voids in the borehole data may suggest that additiground work could be
required to stabilise any potential mine workingach work could potentially
considerable cause additional damage to any beftowng archaeological
remains, which would have to be taken into consitlem once the nature of
such work was more fully known.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the major roof timlaerd posts and rails of the timber
wall-frame be retained for further examination addndrochronological
dating. It is understood that the beam in Ro#r(84) will be retained and
reinstated but it would also be beneficial to béea collect samples for
dendrochronological dating from both this beam @r@dbeam in Roorfi (30),

in an attempt to establish a date range for origioastruction of the building.
Further research into the various layers of wakpapetrieved during the
watching brief will most probably reveal useful idat information,
accompanied by invaluable information on the soaral economic wealth of
the occupants/business during the Victorian perggch research is beyond
the remit of this project, but many experts in fledd exist, including the
Wallpaper History Society. There is probably litdarviving material from
this period within Wigan, therefore, it is propodbdt the material recovered
is donated to Wigan History Shop for conservatimpldy, and possibly
further research.

Figure 15 outlines those areas of most ardbgieal potential, and indicates
how much disturbance by subsequent activity is lfikbased on the
information from the historic map regression. Ptmrany ground work being
carried out it is further recommended that eva@imatirenches be excavated
across the entire development area, concentratingreas 1-3. The area is
approximately 1808m2 and an evaluation of betwe&n é&d 5% of this
(requiring between 55m2 and 90m?2 of trenchingye#ing areas 1-3, should be
sufficient. These three areas should include: twe of buildings along the
frontage onto Standishgate, the buildings presehini this such as the barn
and shippon, the ‘industrial’ buildings to the rezr 130-130a such as the
maltkiln and smithy, the row of cottages to therrefal30-130a and the stone
building identified in the rear wall. Placing trémes in area 4 has the potential
to produce some information although the level isfuitbance is likely to be
high. Area 5 is of considerably less interest d®ing only small in extent, is
unlikely to contain significant archaeology, altiybua trench excavated here
could act as a control to compare with the otheasrThe evaluation trenches
should be able to rapidly assess both the pres#nsarvival, and significance
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of any archaeological deposits that are presentalh@rovide information as
to the necessity for any subsequent archaeologiakX.
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130- 130a STANDISHGATE, WIGAN

ARCHAEOLOGICAL BUILDING INVESTIGATION
PROJECT DESIGN

Proposals
The following project design is offered in response to a request by B&D Croft Ltd for an
archaeological building investigation in advance of demolition of 103 and 130a,

Sandishgate, Wigan.
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11

1.2

1.3

14

2.1

2.1.2

2.1.3

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

INTRODUCTION

B&D Croft (hereafter the client) have planningrpission for a residential
development at 120 -130 Standishgate, Wigan. Asdéhelopment involves
the demolition of numbers 130 and 130a GMAU andwhgan Conservation
Officer have jointly compiled a brief for a programa of archaeological
investigations to be undertaken prior commenceraktite demolition works.

Both properties retain seventeenth century d¢abrihe form of ceiling beams
and brickwork. There is also the potential for melground archaeological
remains to be present, originating from the mediemad post-medieval
periods.

OA North has considerable experience of thesaasent and interpretation and
analysis of historic buildings spanning a rang@efods, having undertaken a
great number of small and large-scale projectsndutie past 20 years. Desk-
based assessments and building investigations teken place within the
planning process, to fulfil the requirements oéuris and planning authorities,
to very rigorous timetables.

OA North has the professional expertise anduregs to undertake the project
detailed below to a high level of quality and a#firecy. OA North is an Institute
of Field Archaeologists (IFA) registered organisatiregistration number 17,
and all its members of staff operate subject tdfdeCode of Conduct.

OBJECTIVES

The following programme has been designed tdtuate the archaeological
and historic resource of buildings. The requireabss to achieve these ends
are as follows:

The objectives of the building investigatiore 8 provide an outline analysis
of the plan, form, function, age and developmenth& buildings, and to
investigate the presence of buried archaeologerabins on site.

To achieve the objective outlined above thieviong listed specific aims are
proposed.

A rapid desk-based assessment will precedeogramme of fieldwork to
place any findings that are made in context;

To provide a drawn and textual record of theldings to RCHME Level lll-
type survey;

To produce a report and archive in accordanit current English Heritage
guidelines Management of Archaeological Projects, 2nd edition, 1991).
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3

3.1
3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

METHOD STATEMENT

RAPID DESK-BASED ASSESSMENT

The scope of the assessment will not exterydraethe provision of an
historical background relating to the developmeaetaand the buildings on
site.

Documentary and Cartographic Material: this work will comprise a rapid
desk-based assessment of the existing resouwél ihclude an appraisal of
the data in the SMR, appropriate sections of Colmgyories, early maps
(printed and manuscript), and such primary docuatent (tithe and estate
plans etc.) as may be reasonably available. Allila@vea published and
unpublished documentary sources will also be exathiend assessed. The
Wigan Local Studies Library will be consulted, adl ihe Conservation
Officer for Wigan. The Lancashire record office valso be consulted.

Physical Environment: a rapid desk-based compilation of geological (both
solid and drift), pedological, topographical and lapaenvironmental
information will be undertaken in order to set #irehaeological features in
context. Any engineering and/or borehole data iredab the site will also be
examined.

BUILDING INVESTIGATION

Photographic Archive: a photographic archive will be produced utilisiag

35mm camera to produce colour slides and a higtitrésn digital camera (4

megapixels). The archive will comprise general shajtthe buildings (both

internal and external) and their surroundings, alwdailed coverage of
architectural/agricultural features, which illusérdoth function and phasing.
All photographs will include a photographic scalefull photographic index

will be produced.

I nstrument survey: the proposed plans and elevations of the buildimje
surveyed by means of a reflectorless electronitadc® measurer (REDM).
The REDM is capable of measuring distances to atdidetail by reflection
from the wall surface, and does not need a prishetplaced. The instrument
to be used will be a Leica T1010 theodolite coupiech Disto electronic
distance meter (EDM). The disto emits a viable dssam, which can be
visually guided around points of detail. The dibiturvey data will be
captured within a portable computer running Theasbftware, which allows
the survey to be directly inserted into AutoCADta@ire for the production
of final drawings.

Detail captured by the instrument survey imitlude such features as window
and door openings, an indication of ground and tewél, and changes in
building material.

Site Drawings: the following drawings will be produced for theildings:

For the use of B&D Croft Ltd © OA North: May 2004
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(1) plans of all main floors annotated to show foamd location of any
structural features of historic significance andoreling the form and
location of any significant structural details (@:5scale). It is
understood that access to the first floors is ictett for safety reasons;

(i) One lateral section and one longitudinal satii»:50 scale);
(i)  Detailed sections through an early ceiling tmegl:10 scale);
(iv) A section through the roof structure if safegrmits;

3.2.5 The drawings will be used to illustrate theghg and development of the
buildings.

3.2.6 Interpretation and Analysis. a visual inspection of the buildings will be
undertaken utilising the OA North buildings prof@nsheets. An outline
description will be maintained to RCHME Level pe survey. This level of
survey is fully analytical and will provide a systatic account of the
building’s origins, development and use. It wilcinde an account of the
evidence on which the analysis has been basedvithal inspection will
utilise OA North buildingpro forma. Feature numbers will be allocated where
appropriate to architectural elements to enhaneedhording, and act as an
aid for interpretation and presentation. Group nerslwill be allocated to
common features repeated throughout the buildinge#ure list will be
appended to the report.

3.2.7  The written record will include:

(i) An analysis of the building’s plan, form, fabriéunction, age and
development sequence and of the evidence suppdtiiggnalysis;

(i) An account of the building’s past and presese and of the uses of
their parts, with the evidence for these interpiets;

(i) An account of the fixtures, fittings assoa@dt with the buildings, and
their purpose:

(iv) Any evidence for the former existence of deistoéd structures or
processes associated with the building;

(v) Identify areas that are currently obscured @caessible which might
hold key information to inform our understanding tbe building’s
origin and development and where an archaeologiedthing brief
should be undertaken during stripping out and d#ioioj

(vi) From historical research and physical evidemgentify areas that have
a potential below ground archaeological interest:

(vii) A discussion of the structure in its local awitler context, comparing it
with comparative buildings.

3.2.8 Access and Attendances: the client will be required to arrange access ® th
buildings.
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3.3

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.34

3.3.5

3.3.6

ARCHIVE/REPORT

Report: a draft copy of the report will be submitted to GMAand Wigan

Planning for comments. Three copies of the finpbrewill be submitted to
the client and one each to the following: Assist@ounty Archaeologist at
GMAU; Phil Powell at Wigan Planning Department; \AfigHistory Shop and
Wigan Archives at Leigh.

The report will include a copy of this projefgsign, and indications of any
agreed departure from that design. It will pressatnmarise, and interpret
the results of the programme detailed above andinglude a full index of
archaeological/architectural features identifiedthe course of the project,
with an assessment of the overall plan, form antttfan, together with
appropriate illustrations, including detailed plaared sections indicating the
locations of archaeological/architectural featufidse report will also include
a complete bibliography of sources from which dats been derived.
Recommendations will be made for a watching briefirdy stripping
out/demolition/refurbishment works as appropriate.

This report will identify areas of defined lameology. An assessment and
statement of the actual and potential archaeolbgi@nificance of the
identified archaeology within the broader contektregional and national
archaeological priorities will be made. lIllustraivmaterial will include a
location map, section/elevation drawings, and plahss report will be in the
same basic format as this project design; a coplgeofeport can be provided
on CD-ROM, if required.

Provision will be made for a summary reporbt submitted to a suitable
regional or national archaeological journal witlone year of completion of
fieldwork, if relevant results are obtained.

Confidentiality: all internal reports to the client are designeddasuments
for the specific use of the Client, for the parupurpose as defined in the
project brief and project design, and should baté@ as such. They are not
suitable for publication as academic documents trervise without
amendment or revision.

Archive: the results of all archaeological work carried wilt form the basis

for a full archive to professional standards, inadance with current English
Heritage guidelinesManagement of Archaeological Projects, 2nd edition,

1991). This archive will be provided in the Englisteritage Centre for
Archaeology format and a synthesis will be subrditie the SMR (the index
to the archive and a copy of the report). OA Nanéactice is to deposit the
original record archive of projects (paper, magnamd plastic media) with
the appropriate County Record Office, and a fufpycof the record archive
(microform or microfiche) together with the matériarchive (artefacts,
ecofacts, and samples) with an appropriate musénnthis instance the
archive will be submitted to the Wigan Archive Sees. Wherever possible,
OA North recommends the deposition of such mateniah local museum
approved by the Museums and Galleries Commissiod, \&ould make
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4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

6.1

6.2

appropriate arrangements with the designated mussuthe outset of the
project for the proper labelling, packaging, andessioning of all material
recovered.

PROJECT MONITORING

Monitoring of this project will be undertakenrabigh the auspices of the
GMAUSMR Archaeologist, who will be informed of tistart and end dates
of the work.

WORK TIMETABLE

OA North could commence the desk-based assesswtbim two weeks of
receipt of written notification from the client.

The desk-based assessment is expected to take negion of five days to
complete.

The building investigation will take approximigtéve days in the field.

A draft copy of the report will be submitted tbe Assistant County
Archaeologist at GMAUSMR and Wigan Planning Authri

The client report will be completed within eigheeks following receipt of
comments on the draft report.

STAFFING

The project will be under the direct managenwnflison Plummer BSc
(Hons) (OA North Senior Project Manager) to whom all espondence
should be addressed.

The desk-based assessment and building investigaill be undertaken by
Daniel Elsworth MA (OA North Project Supervisor). Daniel has a gkl
of experience in documentary research, and inquéati for the north of the
country. Daniel is also very experienced in thenptetation and analysis of
historic buildings.
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APPENDIX 3: SITE GAZETTEER

Site Name Mab’s Cross

Site Number 01

NGR SD 5852 0627

SMR No 5446.1.0

Site Type Cross

Period Medieval

Sour ce SMR; SM No. 27583; Taylor 1901; Porteus 1941
Description

A cross base and shaft which are now set withitirdhpof modern slabs in front of school buildings.
This cross was one of four used as waymarkers aflbagnedieval route from Wigan to Chorley.
Above the modern base is a plinth of dressed griesttm square and 0.57m high. A skewed base
block of gritstone above has leaded boreholes £18d7im square by 0.4m high. The socket is 0.4m by
0.3m and holds and shaft of which 0.7m remainka$t chamfered edges. The cross is hamed after the
penance of Lady Mabel Bradshaigh who walked batdfom Haigh Hall.

Assessment

The site is close to the development area but efylito be affected.

Site Name Mab’s Cross Hotel

Site Number 02

NGR SD 58479 0626

SMR No -

Site Type Listed Building

Period Post-Medieval

Source Wigan Conservation Officer
Description

The Mab’s Cross Hotel and associated buildings. dtbrick building of three storeys.
Assessment
The site is close to the development but is unjikelbe affected.

Site Name Site of Mab’s Cross

Site Number 03

NGR SD 5850 0625

SMR No -

Site Type Site of cross

Period Medieval

Source Ordnance Survey 1847-1908; Holcroft 1992
Description

Mab’s Cross was originally positioned on the wéde ©f Standishgate, outside what is now the Mab’s
Cross Hotel, before it was moved to its preserdtioa in 1921 (Holcroft 1992, 7).

Assessment

The site is close to the development area but elyiito be affected.

Site Name Standishgate Toll Bars
Site Number 04

NGR SD 5849 0621

SMR No -

Site Type Toll bars

Period Post-Medieval

Sour ce DDSc 129/47
Description

A plan of the southern half of the development afgaws two pairs of ‘Toll Barrs’ crossing the stree
(Plate 10). The Golden Cross Inn is described@sedo the toll bars in the same deeds.

Assessment

The site is close to the development and may leeizf.
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Site Name 118 Standishgate
Site Number 05

NGR SD 5846 0618
SMR No 4919.1.0

Site Type Listed Building
Period Post-Medieval
Sour ce SMR

Description

House, probably built in the mid eighteenth centdxysymmetrical three storey building of red brick
with two modernised windows with stopped key linteCentral pedimented doorway with three steps
and a modern door with plain overlight. Decoratethwsill bands and a modillioned cornice.
Assessment

The site is adjacent to the development area Hikalyto be affected.

Site Name Chapel (Standishgate)
Site Number 06

NGR SD 584500617

SMR No 4979.1.0

Site Type Building

Period Post-Medieval

Sour ce SMR; Whitehouse 1829
Description

An independent chapel built in 1795.
Assessment

The site is adjacent to the development area Hikalyto be affected.

Site Name St Mary’s Catholic Church
Site Number 07

NGR SD 5855 0613

SMR No 4920.1.0

Site Type Listed Building

Period Post-Medieval

Source SMR; Whitehouse 1829
Description

St Mary’'s Catholic Church was built in 1818. Itperpendicular in style with an ashlar front with
battlements, pinnacles and a middle gable whicludes a bellcote over the large west window.
Internally it has a nave and aisles and slendemao$ with a plaster ceiling and short chancel.
Assessment

The site is adjacent to the development area Hikalyto be affected.

Site Name The Royal Oak

Site Number 08

NGR SD 5848 0613

SMR No 4980.1.0

Site Type Listed Building

Period Post-Medieval

Sour ce SMR; Richardsomt al 1980
Description

Built in the early nineteenth century. It is still use as a public house. It has a brick built tfneith
stucco of three storeys decorated with quoins amdhied with a steep slate roof. It has five sash
windows with keyed lintels grouped 1-2-2, with ttop window blocked. The doorway has a porch
with slender columns and a flat canopy with cornitiee right gable has a small chimney and a large
one right of the left hand bay on the ridge. Itdmae known as ‘Bush Inn’ in the 1830s, a nickname
which lasted for about five years.
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Assessment
The site is close to the development area but efylito be affected.

Site Name 136 Standishgate
Site Number 09

NGR SD 5850 0610
SMR No 4786.1.0

Site Type Listed Building
Period Post-Medieval
Source SMR

Description

Eighteenth century. Red brick, three storeys. Tlaeecfive sash windows, the outer ones paired, with
keyed surrounds and bracketed sills. There is ahimg doorway up steps with a modern door and the
original railings. Corners are finished with quoardd it has a slate roof. Internally the originalhaat

the rear of the hall and turned baluster staircas®in. The archway to the south has a quoinedefram
and depressed head set in a two storey high wiilamjuoined lunette over arch.

Assessment

The site is close to the development area but elyiito be affected.

Site Name House (formerly an inn called Dicconson Arms)
Site Number 10

NGR SD 5840 0610

SMR No 5430.1.0

Site Type Building

Period Post-Medieval

Sour ce SMR; Richardsort al 1980

Description

The frontage comprises a modern furniture shop thithbuilding behind. It was formerly the home of
the Dicconson family. The large wainscoted room wsed as a chapel in 1696, and had a priest hole
large enough for a man to stand in. There wasalsiole which could have been connected to a ledge
or passage across the chimney breast. The hideet#&sed as a precaution and a shutter was added to
give the appearance of a small domestic cupbotivead once an inn called the Dicconson Arms, built
in the early nineteenth century and owned by tlesvbrs Ellis, Warde and Webster of Ormskirk. It was
sold to Wigan Borough Corporation and closed in4192

Assessment

The site is close to the development area but elyiito be affected.

Site Name The Griffin

Site Number 11

NGR SD 5841 0608

SMR No 4978.1.0

Site Type Building

Period Post-Medieval

Source SMR

Description

Built in the early nineteenth century and stiluise as a pub.
Assessment

The site is close to the development area but elyiito be affected.
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APPENDIX 4. FEATURES LIST

Number Description L ocation
01 Rebuilt east elevation and outer skin of south Frange
02 Stub wall, north west corner Front range
03 Blocked aperture Rear wall, east end
04 Retaining wall North side, front range
05 South elevation Front range
06 Extension td5 Front range
07 Chimneys All
08 South elevation Southern rear extensi
09 Rebuild for inserted door Southern rear extens
10 Large inserted doorway with timber lintel Southezamrextension
11 Rebuilt gable with two windows and doorway  Southerar extension
12 Concrete block infilling of doors andRear extensions

rebuilding of upper part of wall

13 Single pitch outshut scar Southern rear extens
14 Inserted doorway with associated rebuild Northear extension
15 Lower part of west elevation Northern rear extens
16 Blocked window withinl5 Northern rear extensiol
17 Narrow doorway — part df5 Northern rear extensiol
18 North elevation Room 1
19 Attached chimney breast and fireplace Room 1
20 Iéarge doorway inserted between Rooms 1 [@Rdom 1 and 2
21 Short stub wall forming north end 20 Room 1 and 2
22 Brick pillar forming south end 020 and west Room 1 and 2

end of23
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23 Large doorway inserted between Rooms 1 @Rdom 1 and l1a
la

24 Partition walll Room 1 and la

25 North elevation Room 2

26 Small fireplace, rebuilt Room 2

27 Staircase Room 2

28 Large doorway inserted through wall to south  Room 2

29 Chimney breast and fireplace Room 3

30 Timber beam Room 3

31 Chimney breast and fireplace Room 4

32 Built in dresser Room 4

33 Dog-leg staircase Room 4

34 Timber beam Room 4

35 Large doorway inserted throug@b Room 4 and l1a

36 Partition walll Room 4 and la

37 Small cupboard built int86 Room la

38 Concrete ramp Room la

39 Timber counter Room 4

40 Chimney breast and fireplace Room 5

41 Lathe and plaster wall Room 5 and 8

42 West elevation Room 5

43 Southwest corner Room 5

44 Chimney breast and fireplace Room 7

45 Pipe inserted through4 Room 7

46 East elevation, narrower at top Room 7

47 Roof — hand-finished purlins and rafters ariRloom 8

sandstone flags, with later king-post truss
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48 North elevation Room 8
49 Upper part of east elevation Room 8
50 Concrete rebuilding, northwest corner Room 8

51 Wall between Rooms 8 and 9 with timbdRoom 8 and 9

aperture(s)
52 Return of brick wall Rear wall
53 Stone courses Rear wall
54 Blocked aperture Rear wall
55 Return of stone wall Rear wall
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APPENDIX 5: ARCHIVE LIST

Folder 1:

Final Report

Project Design

Project Brief
Correspondence
Maps and plans of site

Background information inlcuding copies of histomeaps, deeds and secondary
sources

Site notes — written room descriptions, featuris lisketch plans
Electronic media including digital photographs (betow)

Folder 2:

Photographs: monochrome and colour slides

Films 1 and 2:

Frames Date Description Facing
1-3 1/6/04 Front (east) external elevation West
4-6 1/6/04 South external elevation North

7 1/6/04 ID Shot -

8-10 1/6/04 West external elevation East
11-12 1/6/04 West exernal elevation — north end East
13-14 1/6/04 West external elevation — south end Neatst
15-17 1/6/04 North elevation — east end South-west
18-20 1/6/04 North elevation — west end South-east
21-23 2/6/04 Room 1 — fireplace North
24-26 2/6/04 Room 2 — fireplace North
27-29 2/6/04 Room 3 — fireplace South
30-32 2/6/04 Room 4 — fireplace and dresser South
33-35 2/6/04 Room 1la — hall and porch East
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Film 3 (Digital):
Frame Date Description Facing

1 1/6/04 Front (east) external elevation West
2 1/6/04 South external elevation North
3 1/6/04 West external elevation East
4 1/6/04 West external elevation — north end East
5 1/6/04 West external elevation — south end North-eas
6 1/6/04 North elevation — east end South-west
7 1/6/04 North elevation — west end South-east
8 2/6/04 Room 1 — fireplace North
9 2/6/04 Room 2 — general shot West
10 2/6/04 Room 2 — general shot North-wes
11 2/6/04 Room 2 — fireplace North
12 2/6/04 Room 3 — fireplace South
13 2/6/04 Room 4 — fireplace and dresser South
14 2/6/04 Room 4 — fireplace detail South
15 2/6/04 Room 1la- hall and porch East
16 2/6/04 Room la — decorative ceiling arch West
17 2/6/04 Room 4 — counter and stairs South-west
18 2/6/04 Room 4 — stairs and counter West
19 3/6/04 Room 4 — beam detail North
20 3/6/04 Room 4 — beam detail North
21 3/6/04 Room 6 — fireplace South
22 3/6/04 Room 7 — fireplace South
23 3/6/04 Room 5 — fireplace North
24 3/6/04 Room 8 — roof North-west
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25 3/6/04 Room 8 — roof West
26 3/6/04 Rebuilt brickwork North-east
27 3/6/04 Room 8 — roof South
28 3/6/04 Room 5 — window and ceiling North-east
29 4/6/04 Rear wall — east end, blocked windqw North
30 4/6/04 Rear wall — stonework and return North
31 4/6/04 Rear wall — Stone return and window North
32 4/6/04 Room la — cupboard South-east
Films 4 and 5:
Frame Date Description Facing
1 3/6/04 ID shot -
2-4 3/6/04 Room 6 — fireplace South
5-7 3/6/04 Room 7 — fireplace South-east
8-10 3/6/04 Room 5 — fireplace North
11-14 3/6/04 Room 8 — roof North-west
15-17 3/6/04 Room 8 — rebuilt brickwork North-east
18-20 3/6/04 Room 8 — roof South-east
21-23 3/6/04 Room 5 — window and ceiling North-east
24-25 4/6/04 Rear wall — blocked window North
26-27 4/6/04 Rear wall — stone work and return North
28-29 4/6/04 Rear wall — stone return and window North
30-33 4/6/04 Room 4 — beam North-west

Oneroll of drawings:

Five measured plans: ground floor, first floor, tefasing cross-section, south-facing
cross-section and rear wall details.

Two sketch plans: general dimensions of groundfasidfioor.

For the use of B & D Croft © OA North: July 2004



